OA 2.4.99

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 92,984 5TH DCA CASE NO.: 97-3189-AP

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a case from the County Court in and for Brevard County, Florida, for the recovery of Personal Injury Protection (PIP) benefits under a policy of insurance issued by Respondent Atlanta Casualty to Petitioner Blish, for an injury arising out of the ownership, maintenance and use of a motor vehicle. Florida Statutes, 627.736(1), and the policy in question provide for PIP benefits, including medical expenses, incurred "as a result of bodily injury . . . arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle . . . "

Petitioner Blish was forced to stop on the side of a dark road as a result of a blow out of his vehicle's tire. (KB- 47, 52). Petitioner Blish was stranded at this location solely as a result of the flat tire. He was in the process of immediately and physically changing the tire when he was attacked from behind by at least two unknown assailants. (KB- 48, 51). He did not see the assailants approach because he was hunched over and turning a wrench which was attached to the wheel. (KB- 52-54). The unknown assailants beat and robbed Petitioner Blish. (KB-53-55,64). At some time during the attack the front passenger door to his vehicle, which was closed before the attack began, was opened, but not by Blish. (KB- 58, 61). Petitioner Blish suffered a ruptured spleen and incurred medical expense as a result of the attack. (KB-71-73).

1

Petitioner Blish made a claim to Respondent Atlanta Casualty under the PIP portion of his policy. The claim was denied by Atlanta Casualty on the sole basis that Petitioner Blish was not <u>occupying</u> the vehicle at the time of the attack. (Exhibit C to the Complaint). This suit was filed.

The County Court, Brevard County, Florida, ruled that Atlanta Casualty was entitled to summary judgment on the issue of coverage, and that Blish was ineligible for benefits based on the aforementioned facts. The only pertinent evidence before the court on this issue was the deposition of Petitioner Blish.

The Circuit Court Appellate Division reversed the County Court and ruled that Blish was entitled to a partial summary judgment on the issue of liability, citing as authority the cases of <u>Gov't Employees Ins. Co. v. Novak</u>, 453 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1984), and <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Barth</u>, 579 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The Circuit Court decision states that "The record is clear Appellant established a sufficient nexus between the use of the car and the injuries suffered." (Circuit Court Appellate decision, page two). The court reversed and remanded the case.

Atlanta Casualty filed a Petition for Certiorari to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The decision of the Fifth District quashed the opinion of the Circuit Court, stating the instant case was controlled by <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Furo</u>, 588 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The court stated that to find a sufficient nexus between the use of a vehicle and a criminal attack, it must be found that the "assailant either desired possession (Novak) or use (Barth) of the victim's automobile" <u>Atlanta Casualty Co. v. Blish</u>, 707 So. 2d 1178, 1179 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). The Fifth District's opinion was based on the conclusion that "In our case, there is nothing in the record to suggest that the assailant wanted anything other than the victim's money. No effort was made to possess or use the automobile." <u>Id.</u> at 1179. The decision of the Fifth District reinstated the judgment of the County Court denying Petitioner benefits under his PIP policy of insurance. A Motion for Rehearing by Blish was denied.

This Court accepted conflict jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeals erred in two main respects when quashing the appellate decision of the Circuit Court and reinstating the decision of the County Court granting Respondent Atlanta Casualty's Motion for Summary Judgment.

FIRST, the Fifth District has placed an improperly restrictive requirement on persons seeking PIP benefits after being injured in a criminal attack while repairing (owning, maintaining or using) a motor vehicle in emergency circumstances. The Fifth District's exclusive requirement, that the assailant desired either use or possession of the vehicle, otherwise the vehicle is just considered the situs of the attack, is contrary to the Supreme Court statement that the terms extending benefits under this state's PIP provisions should be "construed liberally because their function is to extend coverage" and the automobile is not required to be the "instrumentality of the injury," nor must the conduct which causes the injury be "foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicle." Gov't Employees Ins. Co. v. Novak, 453 So. 2d 1116, 1119 (Fla. 1984). The Novak decision was not intended to be a limitation on rights or to foreclose the consideration of other fact patterns, as it has been interpreted by the Fifth District.

The fact pattern in the instant case is different in one very important respect from all other criminal attack cases where PIP benefits were denied. The vehicle in the instant case was not merely the situs of the attack, it <u>determined</u> the situs by its <u>failure</u> (blow out). This is a nexus that does not appear in any of the other cases. This is not a case where the driver chose the situs to conduct repairs in his driveway, this is a case where the motor vehicle's inoperability <u>stranded</u> a driver making him subject to the attack. The repair was <u>immediate</u> and ongoing maintenance to get moving again from a place where the driver did not intend to stop. But for the breakdown, Petitioner Blish would not have been attacked. This clear nexus was never broken before the attack.

The confusion regarding PIP entitlement when criminally attacked is highlighted within the Fifth District itself. Judge Sharp concurred in the instant case (denying benefits) and then issued a dissenting opinion (in favor of benefits) under similar circumstances, in <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Jun</u>, 712 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), wherein she stated that "This area of the law is hopelessly confused, contradictory and badly in need of clarification." <u>Id.</u> at 418.

SECOND, this case should be reversed because even if the Supreme Court did intend to exclude entitlement to PIP benefits in cases involving an assailant, except for the exclusive two circumstances where the assailant desired either use or possession of the vehicle, this was not a case where the strict standard for Summary Judgment was met. There was evidence which a fact finder could conclude indicated a desire on the part of these assailants to use or possess the vehicle, even if only during the time which they opened the passenger door.

The District Court incorrectly held that, "there is nothing in the record to suggest that the assailant wanted anything other than the victim's money," and that, "[n]o effort was made to possess or use the automobile." <u>Blish</u>, 707 So. 2d at 1179. To the contrary, there was evidence that the front passenger side door of the unoccupied vehicle was closed prior to the attack, but was opened after the Petitioner Blish was rendered incapacitated.

The undisputed facts of this case indicate that Petitioner, who was insured for PIP benefits, received bodily injuries during a criminal attack while stranded as a result of a commonly occurring motor vehicle breakdown and while in the immediate process of making emergency repairs on his motor vehicle. But for the breakdown, Petitioner would not have been attacked. Petitioner's bodily injuries arose solely "out of the ownership, maintenance, or use" of his vehicle. Therefore, pursuant to Florida Statute 627.736 (1), Petitioner is entitled to coverage under his PIP policy of insurance.

6

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: ARE THE RESULTANT BODILY INJURIES OF A PERSON, INSURED FOR PIP BENEFITS, WHO IS CRIMINALLY ATTACKED WHILE STRANDED AS A RESULT OF A VEHICLE BREAKDOWN AND IN THE IMMEDIATE PROCESS OF MAKING EMERGENCY REPAIRS ON HIS VEHICLE, BODILY INJURIES ARISING OUT OF THE OWNERSHIP, MAINTENANCE OR USE OF THAT VEHICLE PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 627.736?

Answer: Yes

The initial denial of benefits by Respondent Atlanta Casualty was on the sole basis that the Petitioner Blish was not "occupying" the vehicle. (Exhibit C attached to the Complaint). Clearly Petitioner Blish satisfies that requirement. Industrial Fire and Casualty Ins. Co. v. Collier, 334 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976) (person who was injured while in the process of changing a flat tire was 'occupying' the vehicle at the time of the injury). See also, Laninfa v. Prudential Property and Casualty Ins., 656 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (mechanic pushing motorcycle after failed test drive was "occupying" the motorcycle); Dunlap v. U.S. Auto Ass'n, 470 So. 2d 98 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (mere physical contact can satisfy "occupancy" requirement); <u>Asnip v. Hartford Accident &</u> Indemnity Co., 446 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) ("when contact exists, the cases invariably hold that that fact is alone sufficient to render the claimant an occupant") citing, Motor Vehicle Accident Indemnification Corp. v. Oppedisano, 41 Misc. 2d 1029, 246 N.Y.S.2d 879 (N.Y.Sup. 1964) (person pushing vehicle off the road held to be an occupant); Lumbermen's Mut. Casualty Co. v. Norris, 15 Ill.App.3d 95, 303 N.E.2d 505 (1973) (person standing at the side of the car holding onto the side view mirror held to be an occupant); Manning v. Summit Home Ins. Co., 128 Ariz. 79, 82, 623 P.2d 1235, 1238 (App.Ct. 1980); Lokos v. New Amsterdam Casualty Co., 197 Misc. 40, 93 N.Y.S.2d 825 (N.Y.Mun.Ct. 1949), aff'd, 197 Misc. 43, 96 N.Y.S.2d 153 (N.Y.Sup.Ct. 1950) (person standing behind vehicle held to be "occupying" it).

The Fifth District ruled that the instant case was controlled by <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Furo</u>, 588 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), and denied PIP benefits to Petitioner Blish under the policy of insurance and the statutes, on the basis that there was not a sufficient nexus between the motor vehicle and the criminal attack. The Fifth District was of the opinion that when a person is criminally attacked, PIP benefits are available <u>only</u> in situations where the assailant desired either possession or use of the vehicle. The District Court placed a restrictive interpretation on the Supreme Court holding in <u>Gov't Employees Ins.</u> <u>Co. v. Novak</u> 453 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1984), and its subsequent ruling in <u>Hernandez</u> <u>v. Protective Casualty Ins. Co.</u>, 473 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 1985).

Both <u>Novak</u>, supra, and <u>Hernandez</u>, supra, concerned claims of personal injury protection benefits in situations where the insured was injured in events associated with their use of their automobiles. <u>Novak</u>, concerned a driver shot in the face by a pedestrian seeking a ride, and <u>Hernandez</u>, concerned a driver injured by police officers in the course of arresting the driver after a traffic stop. In both cases, this court held that the injuries resulted from the use or ownership of the vehicles, thereby allowing the insured to recover personal injury protection benefits.

In Novak, the court stated the following:

It must be remembered that we are not looking for a proximate causal relationship in the resolution of this case; rather the inquiry should be whether the attack upon the decedent arose out of, or flowed from, the use of the vehicle.

53 So. 2d at 1117.

It is well settled that "arising out of " does not mean "proximately caused by," but has a much broader meaning. All that is required is some nexus between the motor vehicle and the injury.

453 So. 2d at 1119.

It is clear that in the present case, as the district court

correctly concluded, there was a highly substantial connection between Novak's use of the motor vehicle and the event causing her fatal injury. Obtaining a ride in or possession of the motor vehicle was what motivated deranged Endicott to approach and attack the deceased.

453 So. 2d at 1119.

Accordingly, we hold that the personal injury protection benefits are applicable to the accident that occurred in this case. The district court was correct in saying, "We do not understand that the automobile must be the instrumentality of the injury nor do we believe the type of conduct which causes the injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicle."

453 So. 2d 1119.

The substitution of the facts from the instant case into the <u>Novak</u> decision and the application of the <u>Novak</u> reasoning, makes the <u>Novak</u> result consistent with a finding of PIP coverage in the instant case. In the instant case, as in <u>Novak</u>, the attack only occurred because of the vehicle. The Blish vehicle determined the situs, not Blish. The vehicle became inoperable, placing Blish in a place he did not intend to be. The breakdown or maintenance of the vehicle and the necessary repair (changing of the tire) is what caused Blish to be in the position to be attacked. It was a direct result of the vehicle's action that caused Blish to be there and be vulnerable to attack. It was a direct result of the ongoing repair that he did not observe the impending attack. The vehicle in this case cannot

be said to be incidental to the attack, because but for the breakdown and repair, there would be no attack.

In <u>Hernandez</u>, supra, a case where PIP benefits were awarded to a driver injured while being removed from the vehicle by police after a chase, the court stated:

The automobile here was, however, more than just the physical situs of petitioner's injury. Petitioner was using the vehicle for the purpose of transportation, which use was <u>interrupted</u> by his apprehension of police officers. It was the manner of petitioner's use of his vehicle which prompted the actions causing his injury. While <u>the force exercised by the police may have a been the direct cause of injury</u>, under the circumstances of this case it was not such an intervening event so as to break the link between petitioner's use of the vehicle and his resultant injury. We find these facts sufficient to support the requisite nexus between petitioner's use of his automobile and his injury, thereby allowing him to recover PIP benefits.

473 So. 2d at 1243 (emphasis added).

In the instant case, Blish's transportation was likewise "interrupted" due to the vehicle's operation, or lack of ability to operate. That interruption of the use of the vehicle, i.e., the accidental, unintended, fortuitous <u>action of the vehicle</u> becoming inoperable, and the focus on fixing that problem, is what allowed the attack to occur. The manner of the use, i.e., the tire blow-out, should be the focus of the nexus as in <u>Hernandez</u>, supra, rather than the attack, as found below. As stated in the concurring opinion in the Circuit Court Appellate Division below, in analyzing the applicability of the <u>Hernandez</u>, supra, decision:

In the instant case, it was the Appellant's use of his motor vehicle which cause [sic] him to have a flat tire and thereby become stranded at the location where he became the victim of a criminal act. In <u>Hernandez</u>, the Florida Supreme Court found a sufficient nexus between the plaintiff s apparently illegal driving conduct and the alleged criminal attack upon him to allow P.I.P. coverage. The Appellant should not receive lesser protection where his predicament resulted from the legal (but unlucky) driving act of suffering a flat tire.

We can, again, substitute our facts into the <u>Hernandez</u> decision and the application of the <u>Hernandez</u> reasoning, makes the <u>Hernandez</u> result consistent with a finding of PIP coverage in the instant case. As indicated in the concurring opinion cited above, it would be an absurd result if a person would be entitled to PIP benefits when their own conduct led them to being stopped and injured while being removed from the vehicle, but the accidental happening of a flat tire which is related directly to the maintenance of the vehicle is not considered a sufficient nexus to obtain the same benefits.

In the instant case, the District Court stated that, "no case has yet found a sufficient nexus between the use of the vehicle and the injury when it has not been shown that the assailant either desired possession . . . or use . . . of the victim's automobile." <u>Blish</u>, 707 So. 2d at 1179. However, the court cites to <u>Hernandez</u>, supra, a case in which the required nexus between plaintiff's injury and use of his automobile was established based upon the manner in which the driver used his automobile. Clearly, the police were not intending to use or possess the automobile as the District Court's interpretation would require.

Inextricably intertwined with the confusion amongst the district courts in determining PIP coverage when a person is attacked by assailants, is the role given to the subjective intentions or motivations of the assailants. As stated in Judge Cowart's dissenting opinion in <u>State Farm Automobile Ins. Co. v. Barth</u>, 579 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), "It is a poor rule of law that answers this question as to insurance coverage on the basis of speculation as to the assailant's intentions and motives." Id. at 156.

Judge Sharp, one of the judges on the Fifth District panel which decided against coverage for Blish in the instant case, wrote in favor of coverage in a recent dissenting opinion in <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Jun</u>, 712 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991),

> This area of the law is hopelessly confused, contradictory and badly in need of clarification. I defy anyone to logically explain why there was coverage in

the Novak case, but not in the Reynolds case.

Id. at 418

Judge Sharp questions what real difference it makes that the

assailant in that case wanted to take possession of the victim's car, and answers by

stating:

The answer, I realize, is the now too oft repeated and, I think, too narrow an interpretation of <u>Novak</u>- that for there to be sufficient nexus between use of the insured vehicle and the injuries received from a criminal assault, the assailant must desire possession of or use of the victim's car. <u>Novak</u> found that a sufficient nexus to support coverage arose out of those facts. Indeed, <u>Novak</u> stressed that coverage should be liberally interpreted in such cases and causation in the sense of proximate cause need not be established.

<u>Id.</u> at 418

She concludes, "More guidance on this question is needed either from

our Supreme Court or the Legislature." Id. at 419.

Applying Judge Sharp's recent analysis in <u>Jun</u>, supra, to the instant

case would result in a totally different holding than the opinion rendered by the

Fifth District. Her interpretation in Jun, as quoted above, is the exact analysis that

was rejected in the opinion in which she concurred, in the instant case.

ISSUE II: DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR WHEN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (ON THE BASIS THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE ASSAILANTS SOUGHT TO USE OR POSSESS THE VEHICLE) WHEN THERE WAS EVIDENCE THAT THE DOOR OF THE UNOCCUPIED VEHICLE WAS CLOSED BEFORE THE ATTACK BUT WAS OPENED DURING THE ATTACK WHILE PETITIONER WAS INCAPACITATED?

Answer: Yes

In Florida, the purpose of a summary judgment is to avoid the expense and delay of trial when no dispute exists concerning the material facts. Nat'l Airlines Inc. v. Florida Equip. Co. of Miami, 71 So. 2d 741 (Fla. 1954). The question for determination on a motion for summary judgment is the existence or nonexistence of a material factual issue. Jones v. Stoutenburgh, 91 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 1956). The two requisites for granting a summary judgement are that there must be no genuine issue of material fact and that one of the parties must be entitled to a judgment as a matter of law on the undisputed facts. Carpineta v. Shields, 70 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 1954).

In the instant case, the District Court's error is clearly evidenced by its improper conclusion that, "there is nothing in the record to suggest that the

assailant wanted anything other than the victim's money" which was in his wallet in his pocket and that, "[n]o effort was made to possess or use the automobile." Blish, 707 So. 2d at 1179. On the contrary, because it is undisputed that the front passenger side door of Petitioner's vehicle was closed prior to the attack, and was opened only after Petitioner was rendered incapacitated, it is clear that the assailants were interested in the use or possession of Petitioner's vehicle, even if just for those few moments. The intended duration of the assailants' use and/or possession of Petitioner's vehicle is unimportant. The assailants had actual physical control of the vehicle. See, Mitchell v. State, 538 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (where unconscious driver was deemed to have actual physical control over vehicle even though engine was off and defendant driver was sleeping or passed out behind the wheel, when keys were in ignition). This evidence raises a fact question regarding the subjective intent of the assailants as required by the Fifth District for the required nexus between Petitoner's injuries and his vehicle and thus summary judgment was improper.

CONCLUSION

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