OH 2-4.59

CASE NO.: 92,984 5TH DCA CASE NO.: 96-16062-AP SID J. WHITE

SEP 25 19981

KARL BLISH,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Maiet Deputy Olerk

v.

ATLANTA CASUALTY COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT ATLANTA CASUALTY COMPANY'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROGERS, DOWLING, FLEMING & COLEMAN, P.A.

WENDY D. JENSEN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar Number: 0057746 Post Office Box 3427 Orlando, Florida 32802-3427 (407) 849-6459

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioner contends that the Fifth District Court of Appeals erred in finding that the Petitioner's alleged injuries did not arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle. However, the purpose of Florida's Financial Responsibility Laws and the history of Florida's cases interpreting the phrase "arising out of" in the context of Fla. Stat. § 627.736 and the terms of the policy issued by the Respondent, support the decision of the Fifth District in this matter.

This Court, as well as the District Courts of Appeal have recognized that in order for an injury to "arise out of" the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle, there must be some causal nexus between the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle and the injuries suffered. The Courts have specifically recognized that while the law does not require that the ownership, maintenance or use of the vehicle be the proximate cause of the injury, there must be more than an incidental or "but for" causal relationship to the injury.

In the instant case, the Petitioner contends that "but for" the fact that his tire blew out, he would not have been in the location where he was attacked. Even if Petitioner is correct in this assertion, the relationship between the ownership, maintenance, or use of his motor vehicle and the injuries he suffered in the criminal attack, is tenuous at best and cannot satisfy Florida's causal nexus requirement.

Other states have also interpreted the phrase "arising out of" and have also adopted a causal nexus requirement that the ownership, operation, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle, have more than an incidental, "but for" or situs relationship to the injuries suffered.

The Petitioner also contends that the Fifth District Court of Appeals erred when it determined that there was no record evidence to suggest that the assailants desired either the use or possession of the Petitioner's pick-up truck. However, the Petitioner's argument that the door was opened at some point during the attack is insufficient to raise a question of fact on this issue, since the truck had a flat tire and was essentially disabled. It hardly makes sense to suggest that the assailants had the intent of obtaining a vehicle when they attacked the Plaintiff, because the vehicle was disabled at the time.

The Fifth District Court of Appeals correctly determined that there was not a sufficient causal nexus between the Petitioner's ownership, maintenance or use of the motor vehicle and the injuries suffered. The intervening criminal attack could have occurred anywhere and the fact that the Plaintiff was in the vicinity of his vehicle is merely incidental. The stated purpose of the Florida Financial Responsibility Laws would not be advanced by extending PIP benefits to the Petitioner under the instant factual situation. To engage in the analysis suggested by Petitioner would lead to an absurd result.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES DID NOT "ARISE OUT OF" THE OWNERSHIP, MAINTENANCE, OR USE OF A MOTOR VEHICLE WITHIN THE MEANING OF FLA. STAT. § 627.736(1) OR THE TERMS OF THE POLICY ISSUED BY THE RESPONDENT.

The Purpose of the Financial Responsibility Laws of Florida is set forth in Fla. Stat. § 627.731 as follows:

The purpose of ss. 627.730-627.7405 is to provide for medical, surgical, funeral, and disability insurance benefits without regard to fault, and to require motor vehicle insurance securing such benefits, for motor vehicles required to be registered in this state and, with respect to motor vehicle accidents, a limitation on the right to claim damages for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience.

It is clear from the language of the statute that the purpose of No Fault coverage in Florida is **NOT** to compensate victims for injuries suffered in criminal attacks that are not causally related to the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle.

Under Florida law, Personal Injury Protection (PIP) benefits are recoverable only in certain circumstances. Fla. Stat. § 627.736(1) and the contract of insurance issued to Plaintiff by ATLANTA CASUALTY, Form F-01, Personal Injury Protection Coverage - Florida, Section I (Appendix C) provides that an auto insurer shall provide PIP benefits for losses sustained "as a result of bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle. . . "
[Emphasis Added]. Florida Courts and Courts across the nation, have long recognized that this provision requires that the automobile be more than merely the situs of the injury and that there be a causal connection between the ownership, maintenance,

or use of the vehicle and the injuries suffered. See, Hernandez v. Protective Casualty Ins. Co., 473 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 1985); Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Novak, 453 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1984); Trott v. Finlayson, 690 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); Underwriters Guarantee Ins. Co. v. Therrien, 640 So. 2d 234, 235 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); Fortune Ins. Co. v. Exilus, 608 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Furo, 588 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Barth, 579 So. 2d 154, 156 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); Parker v. Atlas Mut. Ins. Co., 506 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Doyle v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 464 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Allstate v. Famigletti, 459 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Reynolds v. Allstate Ins. Co., 400 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Stonewall Ins. Co. v. Wolfe, 372 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co. v. Cage, 874 F. Supp. 272 (D. Hawaii, 1994) (distinguishing between the "causal nexus" test and the "territorial nexus" test and applying the "causal nexus" test); Boykin v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 393 S.E.2d 470 (Ga. App. 1990) (recognizing the need for a causal connection between the injury and the operation, maintenance of use of a motor vehicle before the injury can be said to have arisen out of such operation, maintenance, or use of the vehicle); State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Rains, 715 S.W.2d 232 (Ky. 1986) (recognizing the purpose of the Kentucky No-Fault Act required a "causal connection" analysis rather than a "positional risk" (situs) analysis); and Continental Western Ins. Co. v. Klug, 415 N.W.2d

876 (Minn. 1987) (recognizing that a vehicle must be an "active accessory" in causing the injury which is something less than proximate cause, but more than the mere situs of the injury).

Each of the cases cited above have addressed a factual scenario in which the insured was injured through an assault by a third party and the Courts have been faced with the question of whether such injuries arose out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle. In each instance, the Courts have interpreted the phrase "arising out of" to require that there be some sort of causal connection between the "ownership, maintenance, or use" of the motor vehicle and the injury suffered. As the case law has demonstrated, the connection falls somewhere on the "causal continuum" such that it is more than a "but for" or "incidental" relationship, but something less than "proximate causation."

In the instant case, the Petitioner has argued that "but for" the tire blow-out, he would not have been in the location where the attack occurred. While that may be true, it is an unfortunate fact in our society that a criminal attack on the Petitioner could have occurred almost anywhere. The fact that Petitioner's tire blew out at that particular location has, at most, an incidental relationship to the injuries he suffered as a result of the criminal attack.

Under the Petitioner's suggested analysis, any connection with a vehicle would be sufficient to satisfy the requirement that there be a nexus between the injury and the ownership,

maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle. To adopt such an analysis would extend No Fault benefits well beyond the scope of the intent of the legislature and the purpose of the laws. The Petitioner's analysis would require that No Fault coverage be provided to the motorist whose tire blows out and while changing the tire he is stung by a bee. Under the Petitioner's rationale, the motorist would not have been near the bee if the tire had not blown out and necessitated that the motorist get out of the car and make efforts to change the tire.

Taken to its logical conclusion, the Petitioner's analysis would also require that No Fault benefits be paid to a motorist whose car breaks down and who takes it to a mechanic, but while waiting at the mechanic's shop, the motorist is injured when shot by a criminal robbing the shop. In such an instance, as in the case at bar, it can be said that "but for" the fact that the car broke down and required the motorist to begin maintenance on the car, the motorist would not have been at the mechanic's shop and therefore in the path of the stray bullets. Such an analysis yields absurd results that do not support the intended legislative purpose of the Florida Financial Responsibility Laws.

A. A Chronology of Case Law in Florida Demonstrates that Courts Have Been Reluctant to Find that Injuries "Arise Out Of" the Ownership, Maintenance, or Use of a Motor Vehicle Unless There is a Clear Causal Nexus Present.

In 1979, in <u>Stonewall Ins. Co. v. Wolfe</u>, 372 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), the plaintiff and some other boys were riding on the trunk of an automobile when one of the boys, who also

happened to be carrying a qun, fell off the vehicle. Id. at 1148. The boy who fell off began walking towards the vehicle and fell again, causing the gun to discharge. Id. The bullet struck the plaintiff while he was riding on the vehicle and a claim was made for PIP benefits. Id. The Fourth District denied the plaintiff's claim because "the location of the victim, seated on the trunk of the automobile, [was] merely the physical situs of the injury," and "'it is not enough that an automobile be the physical situs of an injury. . . there must be a causal connection or relation between the two for liability to exist." Id. (citing to General Acc. Fire and Life, etc. v. Appleton, 355 So. 2d 1261 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) for support). The court recognized that the plaintiff "could just as easily have been standing on the shoulder of the road when the gun accidentally discharged." Id. The same is true in the instant case. The plaintiff could just as easily have been beaten and robbed by the same assailants if he had been walking along the shoulder of the road, or he could have been beaten and robbed outside the store where he stopped by buy beer and cigarettes. The assailants in this action were interested only in the "eighty or a hundred bucks" Mr. Blish was carrying in his pocket.

Two years later in 1981, in <u>Reynolds</u>, the plaintiff was struck and injured by an unknown assailant lurking in the backseat of his automobile. 400 So. 2d at 496. The assailant then drove several miles and ejected the plaintiff from the automobile. <u>Id.</u>
The Fifth District Court of Appeal cited <u>Stonewall</u> for the rule

that "'it is not enough that an automobile be the physical situs of an injury or that the injury occur incidentally to the use of an automobile, but that there must be a causal connection or relation between the two for liability to exist.'" Id. at 497 (citing Stonewall, 372 So. 2d at 1148). The Fifth District Court of Appeal then determined that based on the allegations in the plaintiff's complaint, his injuries, "appear to have resulted from the mean and dangerous nature and action of his assailant and not from his own vehicle." Id. In the instant case, as in Reynolds, KARL BLISH'S injuries did not "arise out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle," they resulted from the mean and dangerous nature and action of his assailant(s)." Id.

Three years later, in 1984, the Fourth District Court of Appeal addressed the issue in <u>Famigletti</u>, 459 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In <u>Famigletti</u>, the plaintiffs were riding in the automobile, on their way to work, when a neighbor with whom they had a history of violent confrontations, jumped out from behind a tree and began firing upon them with a machine gun. <u>Id.</u> at 1150. The plaintiffs were severely injured and brought a claim against Allstate to recover PIP benefits. <u>Id.</u> Allstate sought a declaratory decree that its policy did not provide coverage.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals found that the "Famigletti's attack was not caused by nor did it arise out of the use of the automobile." <u>Id.</u> Rather, the court cited to numerous cases including <u>Reynolds</u> and <u>Stonewall</u>, and found that "[t]he automobile was merely the situs of the attack." <u>Id.</u> The court

recognized that the neighbor intended to murder the plaintiffs and "[t]he mere fact that he chose the site of their automobile for his attempted slaughter does not provide a sufficient nexus between the assault and the use of the car to warrant the imposition of PIP coverage." Id. In the instant case, the intent of the assailants was to attack and rob the Appellant and the mere fact that Appellant was changing his tire at the time of the attack, "does not provide a sufficient nexus between the assault and the use of the car to warrant the imposition of PIP coverage." Id.

During that same year, this Court issued its opinion in Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Novak, 453 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1984). In Novak, this Court did find a sufficient nexus between the motor vehicle and the injury suffered by the plaintiff. Id. at 1119. In Novak, the plaintiff was about to drive away from her home when a stranger approached her vehicle. Id. at 1117. He asked her for a ride and when she refused he shot her in the face, dragged her out of the vehicle and stole her car. Id. The plaintiff died as a result of the injuries and her estate sought to recover PIP benefits from her insurer. Id.

This Court concluded that "there was a highly substantial connection between Ms. Novak's use of the motor vehicle and the event causing her fatal injury, [because] [o]btaining a ride in or possession of the motor vehicle was what motivated the deranged [assailant] to approach and attack the deceased." Id. at 1119. In reaching its decision, the court recognized that although

"arising out of" did not mean "proximately caused by," it did require that there be "some nexus between the motor vehicle and the injury." Id. The court then recognized that there was a "highly substantial connection" between the use of the vehicle and the injury suffered by Miss Novak because it was the attacker's need for the vehicle which motivated his attack. Id. In the instant case, there is no such nexus between the Plaintiff's "ownership, maintenance, or use" of the motor vehicle and the injuries suffered at the hands of his assailants.

The following year in 1985, the Third District Court of Appeals issued its opinion in <u>Doyle v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.</u>

Co., 464 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). In <u>Doyle</u>, the plaintiff, accompanied by his wife, pulled into his driveway and while exiting the vehicle a robber approached the plaintiff and demanded money. <u>Id.</u> at 1278. When the plaintiff reached for his wallet, the robber shot him several times causing severe injury. <u>Id.</u> The plaintiff then sought to recover PIP benefits from Allstate. <u>Id.</u>

The Third District recognized that "[t]he facts of this case are similar to those of a line of other cases finding no coverage where the automobile was merely the situs of an injury without a causal connection to the injury." <u>Id.</u> at 1279 (citing other cases including <u>Stonewall</u> and <u>Famigletti</u>).

Later that same year, this Court issued its opinion in Hernandez v. Protective Casualty Ins. Co., 473 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 1985). In Hernandez, the plaintiff was operating his vehicle in a manner which attracted the attention of the police and resulted in

a high speed chase and an eventual traffic stop. <u>Id.</u> at 1242. The plaintiff's actions in operating the vehicle had apparently so angered the police officers attempting to stop him, that they used considerable force in apprehending and arresting him. <u>Id.</u> On appeal, this Court again recognized that "it is not enough that an automobile be the physical situs of an injury or that the injury occur incidentally to the use of an automobile, but that there must be a causal connection or relation between the two for liability to exist." <u>Id.</u> at 1243 (citing to <u>Reynolds</u>, 400 So. 2d at 497).

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